

International Agreement Report

TRACE Simulation of SBO Accident and Mitigation Strategy in Maanshan PWR

Prepared by: Jong-Rong Wang, Kai-Chun Huang*, Hao-Tzu Lin, Chunkuan Shih*

Institute of Nuclear Energy Research, Atomic Energy Council, R.O.C. 1000, Wenhua Rd., Chiaan Village, Lungtan, Taoyuan, 325, TAIWAN

*Institute of Nuclear Engineering and Science, National Tsing Hua University, 101 Section 2, Kuang Fu Rd., Hsinchu, TAIWAN

K. Tien, NRC Project Manager

Division of Systems Analysis Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001

Manuscript Completed: March 2013 Date Published: September 2013

Prepared as part of The Agreement on Research Participation and Technical Exchange Under the Thermal-Hydraulic Code Applications and Maintenance Program (CAMP)

Published by U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

AVAILABILITY OF REFERENCE MATERIALS IN NRC PUBLICATIONS

NRC Reference Material

As of November 1999, you may electronically access NUREG-series publications and other NRC records at NRC's Public Electronic Reading Room at <u>http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm.html.</u> Publicly released records include, to name a few, NUREG-series publications; *Federal Register* notices; applicant, licensee, and vendor documents and correspondence; NRC correspondence and internal memoranda; bulletins and information notices; inspection and investigative reports; licensee event reports; and Commission papers and their attachments.

NRC publications in the NUREG series, NRC regulations, and Title 10, "Energy," in the *Code of Federal Regulations* may also be purchased from one of these two sources.

- 1. The Superintendent of Documents U.S. Government Printing Office Mail Stop SSOP Washington, DC 20402–0001 Internet: bookstore.gpo.gov Telephone: 202-512-1800 Fax: 202-512-2250
- 2. The National Technical Information Service Springfield, VA 22161–0002 www.ntis.gov 1–800–553–6847 or, locally, 703–605–6000

A single copy of each NRC draft report for comment is available free, to the extent of supply, upon written request as follows:

Address: U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Office of Administration Publications Branch Washington, DC 20555-0001

E-mail: DISTRIBUTION.RESOURCE@NRC.GOV Facsimile: 301–415–2289

Some publications in the NUREG series that are posted at NRC's Web site address

http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/nuregs are updated periodically and may differ from the last printed version. Although references to material found on a Web site bear the date the material was accessed, the material available on the date cited may subsequently be removed from the site.

Non-NRC Reference Material

Documents available from public and special technical libraries include all open literature items, such as books, journal articles, transactions, *Federal Register* notices, Federal and State legislation, and congressional reports. Such documents as theses, dissertations, foreign reports and translations, and non-NRC conference proceedings may be purchased from their sponsoring organization.

Copies of industry codes and standards used in a substantive manner in the NRC regulatory process are maintained at—

The NRC Technical Library Two White Flint North 11545 Rockville Pike Rockville, MD 20852–2738

These standards are available in the library for reference use by the public. Codes and standards are usually copyrighted and may be purchased from the originating organization or, if they are American National Standards, from—

American National Standards Institute 11 West 42nd Street New York, NY 10036–8002 www.ansi.org 212–642–4900

Legally binding regulatory requirements are stated only in laws; NRC regulations; licenses, including technical specifications; or orders, not in NUREG-series publications. The views expressed in contractorprepared publications in this series are not necessarily those of the NRC.

The NUREG series comprises (1) technical and administrative reports and books prepared by the staff (NUREG-XXXX) or agency contractors (NUREG/CR-XXXX), (2) proceedings of conferences (NUREG/CP-XXXX), (3) reports resulting from international agreements (NUREG/IA-XXXX), (4) brochures (NUREG/BR-XXXX), and (5) compilations of legal decisions and orders of the Commission and Atomic and Safety Licensing Boards and of Directors' decisions under Section 2.206 of NRC's regulations (NUREG-0750).

DISCLAIMER: This report was prepared under an international cooperative agreement for the exchange of technical information. Neither the U.S. Government nor any agency thereof, nor any employee, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for any third party's use, or the results of such use, of any information, apparatus, product or process disclosed in this publication, or represents that its use by such third party would not infringe privately owned rights.



International Agreement Report

TRACE Simulation of SBO Accident and Mitigation Strategy in Maanshan PWR

Prepared by: Jong-Rong Wang, Kai-Chun Huang*, Hao-Tzu Lin, Chunkuan Shih*

Institute of Nuclear Energy Research, Atomic Energy Council, R.O.C. 1000, Wenhua Rd., Chiaan Village, Lungtan, Taoyuan, 325, TAIWAN

*Institute of Nuclear Engineering and Science, National Tsing Hua University, 101 Section 2, Kuang Fu Rd., Hsinchu, TAIWAN

K. Tien, NRC Project Manager

Division of Systems Analysis Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001

Manuscript Completed: March 2013 Date Published: September 2013

Prepared as part of The Agreement on Research Participation and Technical Exchange Under the Thermal-Hydraulic Code Applications and Maintenance Program (CAMP)

Published by U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

ABSTRACT

Maanshan Nuclear Power Station is a two-unit Westinghouse three-loop PWR power station. This research studies the simulation of Maanshan SBO accident happened on 18th March, 2001, and thermal-hydraulic phenomena of the plant during station blackout with and without mitigation strategies. The modeling and simulation works were done by using TRACE code, which is a best-estimate thermal-hydraulic system code developed by US NRC. The purpose of using the mitigation strategy during SBO is to cool down NSSS as soon as possible, to keep the fuel covered by water, and not to let peak cladding temperature (PCT) higher than 1088K (1500°F), which is the temperature that metal-water reaction can self-sustain. Actions that considered such as operation of auxiliary feedwater system, depressurization of steam generators (SG), and line-up the alternate water sources such as sea water when regular systems aren't available.

The simulations of mitigation strategies start from normal operation at 100% power then an earthquake is assumed to happen, tsunami strike the site 20 minutes later, and failure of turbine driven auxiliary feedwater is assumed in base cases. Two different basic mitigation strategies were simulated, include (1) SG controlled-depressurization at the time that SBO happen and SG alternate injection after 1 hour of SBO, (2) SG depressurization at the time after 1 hour of SBO that injection is ready. In addition, alternate injection preparation time is further extended to find the longest acceptable value. Reactor coolant pump shaft seal leakage is also considered in all cases.

FOREWORD

The US NRC (United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission) is developing an advanced thermal hydraulic code named TRACE for nuclear power plant safety analysis. The development of TRACE is based on TRAC, integrating RELAP5 and other programs. NRC has determined that in the future, TRACE will be the main code used in thermal hydraulic safety analysis, and no further development of other thermal hydraulic codes such as RELAP5 and TRAC will be continued. A graphic user interface program, SNAP (Symbolic Nuclear Analysis Program) which processes inputs and outputs for TRACE is also under development. One of the features of TRACE is its capacity to model the reactor vessel with 3-D geometry. It can support a more accurate and detailed safety analysis of nuclear power plants. TRACE has a greater simulation capability than the other old codes, especially for events like LOCA.

Taiwan and the United States have signed an agreement on CAMP (Code Applications and Maintenance Program) which includes the development and maintenance of TRACE. INER (Institute of Nuclear Energy Research, Atomic Energy Council, R.O.C.) is the organization in Taiwan responsible for the application of TRACE in thermal hydraulic safety analysis, for recording user's experiences of it, and providing suggestions for its development. To meet this responsibility, the TRACE model of Maanshan Nuclear Power Station has been built. In this report, we focus on the TRACE analysis of Maanshan SBO accident.

CONTENTS

AB	<u>P</u> STRACT	<u>'age</u> iii
FO	REWORD	v
со	NTENTS	vii
FIG	SURES	ix
ТА	BLES	xi
EX	ECUTIVE SUMMARY	. xiii
AB	BREVIATIONS	xv
1.	INTRODUCTION	.1-1
2.	VERIFICATION OF MAANSHAN NPS SBO ACCIDENT WITH TRACE CODE	.2-1
	2.1 Introduction to Maanshan NPS SBO Accident	.2-1
	2.2 Description of Maanshan NPS TRACE Model	
	2.3 Modeling of Maanshan SBO Accident	
	2.4 Simulation Results of Maanshan SBO Accident	.2-6
	2.5 Discussion	2-12
3.	DESCRIPTION OF SBO MITIGATION STRATEGY AND MODELING METHOD	
	3.1 No Mitigation Strategy (Case A)	
	3.2 Mitigation Strategy 1 (Case B)	
	3.3 Mitigation Strategy 2 (Case C)	.3-1
	3.4 Modeling of SBO Mitigation Strategy	.3-2
4	SIMULATION RESULTS OF SBO MITIGATION STRATEGY	4-1
	4.1 Results of Case A	4-1
	4.2 Results of Case B	4-1
	4.3 Results of Case C	4-1
	4.4 Discussion	.4-5
5.	SENSITIVITY STUDY ON ALTERNATE INJECTION TIME	5-1
	5.1 Cases without Turbine Driven Auxiliary Feedwater	.5-1
	5.2 Cases with Turbine Driven Auxiliary Feedwater Operating for 30 Minutes	.5-3
6.	EFFECT OF RCP SEAL LEAKAGE	.6-1

7.	CONCLUSIONS	7-1
8.	REFERENCES	8-1

FIGURES

		<u>Page</u>
1.	Schematic diagram of Maanshan TRACE input model	2-3
2.	Detail description of major components in loop number 2	2-4
3.	Input data for auxiliary feedwater flow in SG #1	2-5
4.	Input data for auxiliary feedwater flow in SG #2	2-5
5.	Input data for auxiliary feedwater flow in SG #3	2-6
6.	Steam generator #1 narrow range water level	2-7
7.	Steam generator #2 narrow range water level	2-7
8.	Steam generator #3 narrow range water level	2-8
9.	Steam generator #1 pressure	2-8
10.	Steam generator #2 pressure	2-9
11.	Steam generator #3 pressure	2-9
12.	Cold leg #1 liquid temperature	2-10
13.	Cold leg #2 liquid temperature	2-10
14.	Cold leg #3 liquid temperature	2-11
15.	Reactor coolant system pressure	2-11
16.	Pressurizer water level	2-12
17.	Steam generator pressure for cases A, B, and C	4-2
18.	Steam generator water level for cases A, B, and C	4-3
19.	Reactor coolant system pressure for cases A, B, and C	4-3
20.	Reactor water level for cases A, B, and C	4-4
21.	Peak cladding temperature for cases A, B, and C	4-4
22.	Reactor coolant system pressure for cases C1-C5	5-1
23.	Reactor water level for cases C1-C5	5-2
24.	Peak cladding temperature for cases C1-C5	5-2
25.	Reactor coolant system pressure for cases C6-C10	5-3
26.	Reactor water level for cases C6-C10	5-4
27.	Peak cladding temperature for cases C6-C10	5-4
28.	RCP seal leakage flow	6-1
29.	Integrated RCP seal leakage flow	6-2
30.	Reactor water level vs. different RCP seal leakage rate	6-2

TABLES

		<u>Page</u>
1.	Maanshan SBO accident scenario	2-1
2.	Maanshan NPS steady-state initial condition	2-2
3.	Some important settings of SBO mitigation strategy analysis	3-2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

An agreement in 2004 which includes the development and maintenance of TRACE has been signed between Taiwan and USA on CAMP. INER is the organization in Taiwan responsible for applying TRACE to thermal hydraulic safety analysis in order to provide users' experiences and development suggestions. To fulfill this responsibility, the TRACE model of Maanshan Nuclear Power Station is developed by INER.

According to the TRACE user's manual, it is the product of a long term effort to combine the capabilities of the NRC's four main systems codes (TRAC-P, TRAC-B, RELAP5 and RAMONA) into one modernized computational tool. Therefore, in the future, NRC has ensured that TRACE will be the main code used in thermal hydraulic safety analysis, without further development of other thermal hydraulic codes such as RELAP5 and TRAC. Besides, the 3-D geometry model of reactor vessel is one of the features of TRACE. It can support a more accurate and detailed safety analysis of NPPs.

Maanshan Nuclear Power Station is a two-unit Westinghouse three-loop PWR power station. This research first analyzes the SBO accident happened on 18 March, 2001 by using TRACE code and compares the results with plant data. The results show good agreement with plant data, and then this input model is used to analyze the mitigation strategies.

The simulations of mitigation strategies start from normal operation at 100% power then an earthquake is assumed to happen, tsunami strike the site 20 minutes later, and failure of turbine driven auxiliary feedwater is assumed in base cases. Two different basic mitigation strategies were simulated, include (1) SG controlled-depressurization at the time that SBO happen with 1 hour SG alternate injection preparation time, (2) SG alternate injection ready in 1 hour, SG depressurization at the time that injection is ready. In addition, alternate injection preparation time is further extended to find the longest acceptable value. Reactor coolant pump shaft seal leakage is also considered in all cases.

The simulation results in this research show that performing steam generator controlled-depressurization at the early stage of accident and, if no regular coolant injection system available, line up the alternate injection system in 3.5 hours after SBO can keep the fuels covered with water therefore maintain the plant in safety condition. In addition, after plant is under controlled at the early stage of accident, onsite operators should recover AC power as quickly as possible so that ECCS can make up RCS inventory loss through RCP seal, and residual heat removal system (RHR) can remove the decay heat in RCS continuously until reactor is at cold shut down.

ABBREVIATIONS

AC	Alternating current
ACC	Accumulator
AFWS	Auxiliary feedwater system
CST	Condensate storage tank
ECCS	Emergency core cooling system
FW	Feedwater
MDAFW	Motor driven auxiliary feedwater
NPS	Nuclear power station
NSSS	Nuclear steam supply system
PCT	Peak cladding temperature
PORV	Power operated relieve valve
PWR	Pressurized water reactor
RCP	Reactor coolant pump
RCS	Reactor coolant system
RHR	Residual heat removal system
SBO	Station blackout
SG	Steam generator
SNAP	Symbolic Nuclear Analysis Package
TAF	Top of active fuel
TDAFW	Turbine driven auxiliary feedwater
TRACE	TRAC/RELAP Advanced Computational Engine
US NRC	United State Nuclear Regulatory Commission

1. INTRODUCTION

Tragedy happened in Fukushima Daiichi, Japan shows significant consequences of the plant facing beyond design basis accident without proper emergency equipment and mitigation strategies. Taiwan is located at the intersection of two tectonic plates where earthquake frequently happen, with the fact that all nuclear power stations sit near the shore, enhancing the capability of dealing with earthquake induced tsunami or other beyond basis accident is a must.

Maanshan Nuclear Power Station is a two-unit Westinghouse three-loop PWR power station operated by Taiwan Power Company since 1984. If an intense earthquake and tsunami hit the plant, the sea water pumps, switch yard, onsite electric systems, emergency diesel generator or its fuel supply may be damaged and hard to recover. Since no AC power available, only turbine driven auxiliary feedwater system (TDAFW) can deliver cold water to steam generators (SG) to maintain the water level inside SG. If TDAFW trip for some reason, water in the SG will boil off eventually, primary side will lose the heat sink. ECCS cannot operate without AC power so that there is no cooling water injection capability in the reactor coolant system (RCS) except passive accumulators (ACC) actived when RCS pressure is lower than ACC nitrogen gas pressure. Under such circumstance without using any mitigation equipment or strategies, core damage will happen within a few hours.

Taiwan Power Company has enhanced the capability of coping with extended station blackout situation by using mitigation strategies and alternate injection systems. In addition to regular ECCS and auxiliary feedwater system, some alternate injection systems such as diesel engine auxiliary feed pump and fire engine pump can also inject water into SG or RCS, but the operating pressure of the alternate systems is much lower than regular system, and onsite operators have to line-up the injection piping manually. The water sources of alternate injection systems can be either CST, raw water reservoir, or sea water. The mitigation strategies for PWR plant that suggested by Taiwan Power Company put emphasis on removing the decay heat rapidly by controlling the steam generator pressure at a lower level while maintaining the steam generators, RCS pressure will not build up to the opening set point of power operated relieve valves (PORV) that installed on the pressurizer so that no loss of inventory inside RCS. The purpose of using this kind of mitigation strategies is to bring the plant to safe condition as soon as possible and to keep the fuel covered with water.

This research first analyzes the SBO accident happened on 18 March, 2001 by using TRACE code and compares the results with plant data. The results show good agreement with plant data, and then this input model is used to analyze the mitigation strategies. Two basic strategies are simulated in this study, main different between them is the steam generator depressurization strategy. Sensitivity studies on steam generator injection time and the effect of reactor coolant pump (RCP) seal leakage are also performed.

2. VERIFICATION OF MAANSHAN NPS SBO ACCIDENT WITH TRACE CODE

2.1 Introduction to Maanshan NPS SBO Accident

During spring season in Taiwan, salty wind from the ocean can degrade the insulation of power transmission line and causing the instability of off-site power in nearby nuclear power station. On March 17th, 2001, 3:23 am, 345 kV off-site power line was lost due to seasonal salty wind and 161 kV off-site power was remained available. Unit 1 reactor tripped and was maintained at hot standby condition by operators.

At 0:46 am, March 18th, a malfunctioned breaker in on-site AC power electric system accidentally grounded, which produced electric arc that damaging other electric systems. Emergency 4.16 kV bus train A and B were both loss of power supply which is a station blackout situation. At 0:57 am, turbine driven auxiliary feedwater system (TDAFW) started automatically to provide cold water into steam generators.

At 0:58 am, reactor operators started to initiate the emergency operating procedure (EOP) to depressurize the steam generator. Auxiliary feedwater flow rate, steam generator pressure and steam generator water level ware controlled and maintained manually by the operators. At 2:54 am, the emergency diesel generator successfully supplied AC power to emergency 4.16 kV bus B, SBO situation was terminated [1].

Duration of SBO is about 2 hours, starts from 0:46 am to 2:54 am, March 18th, and the temperature and pressure of reactor decreased from 564 K, 15.3 MPa to 472 K, 4.2 MPa respectively. Fuels were covered with water and no radioactive materials were released during the whole accident. A brief accident scenario is shown in Table 1. The verification of SBO accident is done by TRACE code with Maanshan input model, and the simulation starts from 0:30 am to 3:30 am, March 18th. TRACE input model and simulation results are introduced in the following sections. The simulation results are compared against measured data in Maanshan unit 1, and further studies on Maanshan SBO mitigation strategy are done by this input model.

Time (hr)	Simulation Time (hr)	Event
0		345 kV off-site power lost Reactor trip
21.12	0	Simulation start with hot standby condition
21.38	0.26	Breaker failure (SBO)
21.57	0.45	Turbine driven auxiliary feedwater (TDAFW) start
21.58	0.46	Initiate EOP 570.20 (SG & RCS cooling)
23.52	2.4	SBO terminated
24.12	3	End of simulation

Table 1 Maanshan SBO accident scenario

2.2 Description of Maanshan NPS TRACE Model

The computer code used in this research is TRACE (TRAC/RELAP Advanced Computational Engine) V5.0p3 which is a best-estimate thermal-hydraulic system code developed by US NRC, and the input model is edited by using SNAP (Symbolic Nuclear Analysis Package) V2.2.1. Maanshan TRACE base model contains 69 hydraulic components, 380 control blocks, 34 heat structures and 2 power components. Main components including one 3-D vessel, three RCS loops, one pressurizer, three steam generators and basic plant control systems such as 3-element feedwater control, pressurizer spray, pressurizer level and heater control, and steam dump control.

The 3-D vessel component contains 2 radial rings, 6 azimuthal sectors and 12 axial levels. The outer radial ring represents downcomer region and the reactor core is placed in the inner radial ring from axial level 3 to axial level 6. Six control rod guide tubes are connected above the core region. Nuclear fuels are modeled by 6 heat structures each represents 6908 average fuel rods that uniformly placed in 6 azimuthal sectors. Each RCS loop contains hot leg piping, steam generator U-tube, crossover piping, reactor coolant pump, cold leg piping, accumulator tank and accumulator check valve. Pressurizer and pressurizer surge line are connected on RCS loop number 2. This base model has been verified with Maanshan Nuclear Power Station startup test data [2][3]. Figure 1 shows the whole plant scheme of Maanshan TRACE input model. Figure 2 is the detail description of major components in the input model. Plant initial condition data calculated by TRACE steady-state calculation are listed in Table 2.

	Plant Data	TRACE	Error (%)
Core thermal power (MW)	2822	2822	0
RCS pressure (MPa)	15.513	15.518	0.03
Total RCS flow (Mkg/hr)	49.59	49.57	0.04
Pressurizer liquid volume (m ³)	23.79	23.786	0.017
Hot-leg Temperature (K)	599.75	601.7	0.33
Cold-leg Temperature (K)	565.35	566.57	0.22
Steam generator pressure (MPa)	6.74	6.91	2.5
Steam temperature (K)	555.45	558.09	0.48
Steam generator narrow range water level (%)	50	50	0

Table 2 Maanshan NPS steady-state initial condition



Figure 1 Schematic diagram of Maanshan TRACE input model



Figure 2 Detail description of major components in loop number 2

2.3 Modeling of Maanshan SBO Accident

The simulation is separated into two parts, which are (1) reaching the initial hot standby condition and (2) the simulation of SBO accident. Before the accident started, reactor was shut down and maintained at hot standby condition by operators. Steam generator water level was at about 50%, steam pressure was about 7.45 MPa, reactor coolant system pressure was 15.4 MPa, and pressurizer water level was at 62.5%. In part 1, some additional control logic in the model is used to achieve the initial condition, such as increase and control reactor coolant system pressure by pressurizer heater, controlled steam generator feedwater flow and PORV open fraction to maintain water level and steam pressure, and refill the RCS inventory by a FILL component if pressurizer water level is less than 62.5%.

In part 2, several plant data are input as boundary conditions of SBO simulation. Steam generator PORVs open fraction are controlled base on steam pressure plant data so that pressure in all three steam generators appear the same trend with plant data during the whole simulation. Steam generator auxiliary feedwater flow data are also input as a boundary condition and flow into steam generator via a FILL component connected on the steam generator downcomer, the temperature auxiliary feedwater flow is 293 K. Steam generator auxiliary feedwater input data are shown in Figure 3 to Figure 5. Reactor has shut down for about 21 hours prior to SBO accident, decay heat within the core has decreased to very low level, therefore reactor power is set constant at 0.6% (about 16.65 MW_t) during the simulation.



Figure 4 Input data for auxiliary feedwater flow in SG #2



Figure 5 Input data for auxiliary feedwater flow in SG #3

2.4 Simulation Results of Maanshan SBO Accident

SBO happens at 16 minutes after the simulation starts. 11 minutes after SBO, turbine driven auxiliary feedwater system (TDAFW) automatically start. Operators control the auxiliary feedwater flow rate via regulating the throttling valve in order to maintain steam generator water level. The feedwater flow rate during the simulation is shown in Figure 3, 4 and 5. Due to TDAFW system, all three steam generators narrow range water level simulation results are above 50% most of the time and show similar trend with plant data. Steam generator narrow range water level results are shown in Figure 6, Figure 7, and Figure 8.

12 minutes after SBO, the operators start to initiate emergency operating procedure (EOP) to lower the steam generator pressure by opening steam line PORV. In TRACE, PORVs are controlled base on steam pressure plant data, steam generators pressure simulation results are shown in Figure 9, Figure 10, and Figure 11. Steam generator depressurization can effectively remove residual heat from reactor coolant system, therefore coolant temperature and pressure decrease as steam generator pressure become lower. Figure 12, Figure 13, and Figure 14 show the cold leg liquid temperature for three RCS loops respectively. Figure 15 shows the reactor coolant system pressure variation. As the RCS coolant temperature decrease, coolant density also becomes smaller which lead to shrinkage of RCS coolant, therefore pressurizer water level decrease. Figure 16 shows the pressurizer water level during the transient. When reactor coolant system pressure become lower than accumulator nitrogen gas pressure which is about 4.2 MPa, water inside accumulator automatically injected into RCS via two check valves.



Figure 7 Steam generator #2 narrow range water level







Figure 11 Steam generator #3 pressure



Figure 13 Cold leg #2 liquid temperature



Figure 15 Reactor coolant system pressure



Figure 16 Pressurizer water level

2.5 Discussion

During 2 hours SBO duration, the operators successfully execute RCS cooling by controlled-depressurization of steam generators. Since no emergency power available during SBO, the turbine driven auxiliary feedwater system become the most important coolant injection system. Reactor temperature and pressure decreased form 564 K, 15.3 MPa to 472 K, 4.2 MPa respectively, and no radioactive material was released during SBO. After emergency power was recovered, residual heat removal system took place to remove the decay heat continuously. From the above results, TRACE simulation of the Maanshan SBO accident shows good agreement with the plant data. In the next chapter, several SBO mitigation strategies will be simulated by using this input model to determine the best strategy.

3. DESCRIPTION OF SBO MITIGATION STRATEGY AND MODELING METHOD

There are three base cases in this study, one without any operators' action, and the other two with different mitigation strategies during SBO. For all three cases, the plant lose the offsite power due to a large earthquake happens at 60 second, then reactor, RCP, turbine and main feedwater trip immediately. Emergency diesel generator start up automatically after losing the offsite power, the motor driven auxiliary feedwater pumps (MDAFW) then start to deliver cold feedwater into three steam generators. 20 minutes after earthquake, SBO happens and is caused by an intense tsunami that wipes out electric devices related to emergency AC power. After losing the emergency AC power, MDAFW and ECCS are not available, and turbine driven auxiliary feedwater system (TDAFW) is assumed to fail. For conservative, reactor coolant pump (RCP) seal leakage is assumed to happen in all cases. The leakage rate corresponds to full system pressure is 21 gpm (0.98 kg/s) per pump [4].

3.1 No Mitigation Strategy (Case A)

Case A has no operators' actions and is a comparison with case B and C to show the worst situation. The system response follows its default settings and logics. Calculation ends when cladding temperature reaches melting point of zirconium alloy.

3.2 Mitigation Strategy 1 (Case B)

Case B contains two main actions, including steam generators depressurization and alternate injection. After SBO happens at 20 minute with TDAFW is assumed to fail, the plant completely loss its regular coolant injection capability. Under this situation, onsite operators have to prepare any available kind of alternate injection method whatever is driven by fire truck, mobile engine driven pump, or gravity and connect these alternate equipment with the piping line in order to maintain water level in steam generators. The alternate injection preparation process is totally done by onsite operators, a minimum requirement of one hour preparation time start from tsunami wave backed away is requested by Taiwan Power Company. One hour after tsunami hit the plant, steam generator alternate injection is ready to use. Injection pressure using alternate equipment is much lower than steam generator, therefore preforming steam generator depressurization to atmospheric by opening steam line power operate relieve valve (PORV) is necessary. 0.69 MPa alternate injection operate pressure limit is used in this study, and injection flow rate and temperature are 200 gpm (12.6 kg/s) per steam generator and 20°C (293 K) respectively.

3.3 Mitigation Strategy 2 (Case C)

Case C contains three main actions, including steam generators controlled-depressurization, second stage depressurization and alternate injection. When SBO happens at 20 minute, reactor operators perform steam generator controlled-depressurization by manually adjusting the steam line PORV open fraction to maintain steam pressure at 1.57 MPa. TDAFW which is driven by steam can still operate at 1.57 MPa steam pressure, but it is assumed to fail in all cases. When alternate injection is ready at 1 hour after SBO, operators then perform second stage

depressurization to depressurize steam generator to atmospheric pressure so that alternate injection system can deliver water into steam generator. Alternate injection system limitation, flow rate and temperature are the same as in case B.

3.4 Modeling of SBO Mitigation Strategy

The input model used to analyze the mitigation strategies has been verified with Maanshan startup test [2][3] and Maanshan SBO accident against plant data. Some important settings in analyzing SBO mitigation strategy are described in Table 3.

Component / System / Control logic	Description		
RCP seal leakage	Modeled by a VALVE and a BREAK. Valve flow area is adjusted to match the leak flow rate of 21 gpm (0.98 kg/s) corresponds to full system pressure.		
Accumulator (ACC) and ACC isolation valve	Water temperature and N_2 pressure are 311 K and 4.24 MPa respectively. ACC will be isolated to prevent N_2 gas pressed into RCS when ACC is empty or SG pressure is lower than 0.93 MPa.		
MDAFW and TDAFW	Maximum flow rate are 69.7 kg/s and 67.5 kg/s respectively for three SGs. Flow rate is adjustable to control SG water level at 50% narrow range water level.		
Alternate injection	Maximum flow rate is 12.6 kg/s (200 gpm) per SG. Available when SG pressure is lower than 0.69 MPa. Flow rate control is the same as MDAFW. Alternate injection, MDAFW, and TDAFW are all connected to SG feedwater FILL.		
Steam line PORV and depressurization control	Depressurization method depends on case. Depressurize SG to atmospheric pressure when SG is dryout or alternate injection ready to use.		

 Table 3
 Some important settings of SBO mitigation strategy analysis

4. SIMULATION RESULTS OF SBO MITIGATION STRATEGY

Accident starts from 60 second. Reactor trip due to large earthquake, control rods drop into reactor core therefore only decay heat remains. Decay power used in this calculation is ANS 1973 decay heat curve. RCP motor rotation speed starts to decrease and fully stopped in 200 seconds, and then natural circulation flow is established in RCS loop. After main feedwater trip at 60 second, MDAFW continue to maintain steam generator water level. 20 minutes later, MDAFW trips due to SBO. Condenser and steam dump system cannot operate under SBO.

4.1 Results of Case A

After MDAFW trip at SBO, there is no cooling water supply to steam generators. Heat from RCS continuously transfer to steam generator secondary side, steam pressure starts to rise and hold at PORV open set point of 7.96 MPa as shown in Figure 17. Steam is directly dumped into atmosphere via PORV, steam generator water level decreases slowly and dryout at about 3 hour as shown in Figure 18. RCS natural circulation flow slowly removes the decay heat to steam generator, so that RCS pressure also decreases slowly. When steam generators are all dryout, heat sink of RCS is lost. RCS natural circulation stop and pressure starts to build up. At around 3.5 hour, RCS pressure reaches and holds at pressurizer PORV open set point of 16.2 MPa, and then reactor water level starts to decrease very fast due to steam inside RCS is dumped into containment. Accumulator cannot inject cold water into RCS since RCS pressure and reactor water level are shown in Figure 19 and Figure 20 respectively. Without water covering fuels, peak cladding temperature (PCT) increase sharply and beyond 1088 K (1500 °F) at about 4.6 hour as shown in Figure 21.

4.2 Results of Case B

1 hour after SBO, that is, at 1.35 hour, steam generator alternate injection is ready, operators then open the steam line PORV to depressurize steam generator to atmospheric pressure. Steam generator water level decrease and become dryout at about 2 hour due to rapid depressurization. When steam generator pressure is lower than 0.69 MPa at around 2.1 hour, alternate injection starts to inject cold water and steam generator water level starts increasing. RCS pressure also decrease sharply at 1.35 hour, it's because rapid steam generator depressurization can remove massive heat via heat transfer between RCS and SG secondary side. Reactor water level decrease at 1.35 hour is mainly because RCS water density become smaller caused by decreasing of RCS temperature, so that RCS water volume shrink and cause the water level to decrease. Accumulator can inject cold water to RCS when RCS pressure is lower than 4.2 MPa but isolated when steam generator pressure is lower than 0.93 MPa. Steam generator water level is recovered to normal position at about 4.3 hour. Reactor water level is finally stabilized at 1.54 m above TAF, and PCT is well below 1088 K (1500 °F).

4.3 Results of Case C

At 20 minute when SBO happen, operators perform steam generator controlled-depressurization by opening steam line PORV and hold the steam pressure at 1.57 MPa as shown in Figure 17 until alternate injection is ready. Since steam pressure is under controlled, less steam is dumped

into atmosphere so that steam generator water level decrease slower in controlled stage and doesn't become dryout. At 1.35 hour, operators perform second stage depressurization to depressurize steam generator to atmospheric pressure so that alternate injection can come into steam generator. RCS pressure decrease rapidly and stay at around 2.5 MPa is due to controlled-depressurization of steam generator. Steam generator water level is recovered to normal position at about 4 hour. Injection flow rate needed to maintain steam generator water level at normal position after 4 hour is about 8 kg/s for three SGs. Reactor water level is finally stabilized at 1.84 m above TAF, and PCT is well below 1088 K (1500 °F).



Figure 17 Steam generator pressure for cases A, B, and C



Figure 18 Steam generator water level for cases A, B, and C



Figure 19 Reactor coolant system pressure for cases A, B, and C



Figure 20 Reactor water level for cases A, B, and C



Figure 21 Peak cladding temperature for cases A, B, and C

4.4 Discussion

The result from case A shows that core damage will occur within 5 hours after the earthquake if nothing has been done. Recall that the mitigation strategy is used in this kind of accident to prevent PCT from exceeding 1088 K (1500 °F) which is the temperature that metal-water reaction can self-sustain. If a large amount of hydrogen is generated by metal-water reaction, hydrogen explosion may occur and further compromise the integrity of reactor or containment. Results of case B and C show that both two strategies successfully keep the fuels covered with water and PCT is not higher than 1088 K. The benefit of depressurizing steam generator is indirectly remove the decay heat from RCS vie steam generator without losing RCS inventory, but the steam generator water level decrease. From Figure 18, it's obvious that steam generator water level decrease rapidly during depressurization, water level decreasing rate is even faster in case B and become dryout before alternate injection flow can come into steam generator. Controlled-depressurization in case C shows that not only RCS temperature and pressure can be reduced in the early stage of accident but also keep the steam generator from being dryout. In addition, RCP seal leakage flow decrease with decreasing RCS pressure, reducing the inventory loss in RCS. Therefore, strategy in case C is recommended for coping with SBO. Several studies of this strategy have also been done, the assumptions may be different but system responses are very similar [5].

5. SENSITIVITY STUDY ON ALTERNATE INJECTION TIME

When preforming strategy in case C, alternate injection preparation time is a crucial parameter to guarantee the success. If the preparation time is too long, steam generator will become dryout and RCS pressure will build up to pressurizer PORV open set point. RCS inventory loss due to steam that dumped into containment via pressurizer PORV is not recoverable since ECCS is not available, although accumulator can achieve passive injection but the water volume in the tank is limited. 10 different injection times have been tested. For cases without TDAFW, injection ready at 2, 3, 3.5, 4, and 4.5 hours after SBO are named as case C1, C2, C3, C4, and C5 respectively. For cases with TDAFW operates 30 minutes after SBO, injection ready at 4, 6, 7, 8, and 9 hours after SBO are named as case C6, C7, C8, C9, and C10 respectively. Alternate injection flow rate for cases C1-C10 are all 200 gpm (12.6 kg/s) per steam generator.

5.1 Cases without Turbine Driven Auxiliary Feedwater

The results show that RCS pressure will raise to pressurizer PORV open set point if steam generator alternate injection preparation time is later than 3 hours. For case C3 with 3.5 hours preparation time, RCS pressure re-decrease when heat transfer to steam generator is reestablish, and reactor water level is stabilized at about 1.35 m above TAF. Therefore, the alternate injection preparation time should be no later than 3.5 hours after SBO to ensure fuels are covered with water. RCS pressure, reactor water level, and PCT for cases C1-C5 are shown in Figure 22, Figure 23, and Figure 24 respectively.



Figure 22 Reactor coolant system pressure for cases C1-C5



Figure 23 Reactor water level for cases C1-C5



Figure 24 Peak cladding temperature for cases C1-C5

5.2 Cases with Turbine Driven Auxiliary Feedwater Operating for 30 Minutes

If TDAFW operates for 30 minutes after SBO, steam generator alternate injection preparation time can be further extended because auxiliary feedwater is supplied while steam generator is performing controlled-depressurization. The results show that, to prevent pressurizer PORV from opening, preparation time should be no more than 7 hours after SBO. Results of reactor water also show that preparation time that greater than 7 hours will lead to core uncovery. Therefore, if TDAFW operates 30 minutes after SBO, the alternate injection preparation time should be no later than 7 hours after SBO to ensure fuels are covered with water. RCS pressure, reactor water level, and PCT for cases C6-C10 are shown in Figure 25, Figure 26, and Figure 27 respectively.



Figure 25 Reactor coolant system pressure for cases C6-C10







Figure 27 Peak cladding temperature for cases C6-C10

6. EFFECT OF RCP SEAL LEAKAGE

RCP seal cooling is lost after loss of offsite power that cause the degradation of pump shaft seal components. RCS inventory loss due to RCP seal leakage is not recoverable until AC power is recover. RCP leakage rate depends on combinations of failure of the seal components, the effect of RCP seal leakage is performed in this research by testing two leakage rates which are 21 gpm (0.98 kg/s) and 182 gpm (8.5 kg/s) per RCP. According to the references [4][6], the occurrence probability of 21 gpm leak rate after 13 minutes is 0.79 and the occurrence probability of 182 gpm leak rate after 13 minutes is 0.1975. The base scenario in this section is identical to case C6, except the steam generator alternate injection is ready at 1 hour after SBO. The result shows that for 182 gpm leak rate, core uncover happens at 8 hours after SBO. For 21 gpm leak rate, which has the highest occurrence probability, core uncover time can be further extended to 75 hours after SBO. RCP seal leakage rate, integrated leakage rate and reactor water level are shown in Figure 28, Figure 29 and Figure 30 respectively.



Figure 28 RCP seal leakage flow







Figure 30 Reactor water level vs. different RCP seal leakage rate

7. CONCLUSIONS

When facing beyond design basis accidents, great uncertainties are associated with regular plant systems and components. Therefore, the strategy that can bring the plant to safety condition as soon as possible should be considered. The simulation results in this research show that performing steam generator controlled-depressurization at the early stage of accident and, if no regular coolant injection system available, line up the alternate injection system in 3.5 hours after SBO can keep the fuels covered with water. In addition, after plant is under controlled at the early stage of accident, onsite operators should recover AC power as quickly as possible so that ECCS can make up RCS inventory loss through RCP seal, and residual heat removal system (RHR) can remove the decay heat in RCS continuously until reactor is at cold shut down.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. Atomic Energy Council, "Maanshan Unit 1 March 18th SBO Accident Investigation Report", April 2001.
- J. R. Wang, H. T. Lin, Y. H. Cheng, W. C. Wang, C. Shih, "TRACE modeling and its verification using Maanshan PWR start-up tests", Annals of Nuclear Energy, Vol. 36, 2009, pp. 527–536.
- 3. Yi-Hsiang Cheng, Jong-Rong Wang, Hao-Tzu Lin, Chunkuan Shih, "Benchmark calculations of pressurizer model for Maanshan nuclear power plant using TRACE code", Nuclear Engineering and Design, Vol. 239, 2009, pp. 2343-2348
- H. Esmaili, D. Helton, D. Marksberry, R. Sherry, P. Appignani, D. Dube, M. Tobin, R. Buell, T. Koonce, J. Schroeder, "Confirmatory Thermal-Hydraulic Analysis to Support Specific Success Criteria in the Standardized Plant Analysis Risk Models – Surry and Peach Bottom (NUREG-1953)", USNRC NUREG Report, September 2011.
- 5. K.S. Liang, S.C. Chiang, Y.F. Hsu, H.J. Young, B.S. Pei, L.C. Wang, "The ultimate emergency measures to secure a NPP under an accidental condition with no designed power or water supply", Nuclear Engineering and Design, Vol. 253, Issue 4, December 2012, pp. 259–268.
- 6. S.A. Eide, C.D. Gentillon, T.E. Wierman, D.M. Rasmuson, "Reevaluation of Station Blackout Risk at Nuclear Power Plants (NUREG/CR-6890)", USNRC NUREG Report, December 2005.
- 7. Taiwan Power Company, "Maanshan Nuclear Power Station Final Safety Analysis Report (FSAR)", 1987.

NRC FORM 335 (9-2004) NRCMD 3.7 BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA SHEET (See instructions on the reverse)		1. REPORT NUMBER (Assigned by NRC, Add Vol., Supp., Rev., and Addendum Numbers, if any.) NUREG/IA-0430		
2. TITLE AND SUBTITLE TRACE Simulation of SBO Accident and Mitigation Strategy in Maanshan PWR		3. DATE REP	YEAR	
		September	2013	
		4. FIN OR GRANT NUMBER		
^{5. AUTHOR(S)} Jong-Rong Wang, Kai-Chun Huang*, Hao-Tzu Lin, Chunkuan Shih*		6. TYPE OF REPORT Technical		
		7. PERIOD COVERED (Inclusive Dates)		
8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (If NRC, provide Division, Office or Region	n, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commi	ssion, and mailing addres	s; if contractor,	
provide name and mailing address.)*Institute of NuclearInstitute of Nuclear Energy Research*Institute of NuclearAtomic Energy Council, R.O.C.National Tsing Hua1000, Wenhua Rd., Chiaan Village, Lungtan, Taoyuan, 325101 Section 2, KuaTaiwanTaiwan			Engineering and Science University ng Fu Rd., HsinChu	
 SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (If NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, and mailing address.) Division of Systems Analysis Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001 				
10. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES K. Tien, NRC Project Manager			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
11. ABSTRACT (200 words or less) Maanshan Nuclear Power Station is a two-unit Westinghouse three-loop PWR power station. This research studies the simulation of Maanshan SBO accident happened on 18th March, 2001, and thermal-hydraulic phenomena of the plant during station blackout with and without mitigation strategies. The modeling and simulation works were done by using TRACE code, which is a best-estimate thermal-hydraulic system code developed by US NRC. The purpose of using the mitigation strategy during SBO is to cool down NSSS as soon as possible, to keep the fuel covered by water, and not to let peak cladding temperature (PCT) higher than 1088K (1500°F), which is the temperature that metal-water reaction can self-sustain. Actions that considered such as operation of auxiliary feedwater system, depressurization of steam generators (SG), and line-up the alternate water sources such as sea water when regular systems aren't available.				
The simulations of mitigation strategies start from normal operation at 100% power then an earthquake is assumed to happen, tsunami strike the site 20 minutes later, and failure of turbine driven auxiliary feedwater is assumed in base cases. Two different basic mitigation strategies been simulated, include (1) SG controlled-depressurization at the time that SBO happen with 1 hour SG alternate injection preparation time, (2) SG alternate injection ready in 1 hour, SG depressurization at the time that injection is ready. In addition, alternate injection preparation time is further extended to find the longest acceptable value. Reactor coolant pump shaft seal leakage is also considered in all cases.				
12. KEY WORDS/DESCRIPTORS (List words or phrases that will assist researchers in locating the report.) TRACE		13. AVAILAE unlimite	BILITY STATEMENT	
PARCS Maanshan Nuclear Power Station Code Application & Maintenance Program (CAMP) INER (Institute of Nuclear Energy Research, Atomic Energy Council, R.O.C.) Thermal hydraulic safety analysis Taiwan Station blackout (SBQ)		14. SECURI	TY CLASSIFICATION	
		unclass	ified	
		(This Report unclass) aified	
		15. NUMB	ER OF PAGES	
Tsunami 16. PRICE				





UNITED STATES NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION WASHINGTON, DC 20555-0001

OFFICIAL BUSINESS

NUREG/IA-0430

TRACE Simulation of SBO Accident and Mitigation Strategy In Maahshan PWR

September 2013